1994

**A. B. Christenson. Personal Representative of the Estate of Michael Lance Christenson, Deceased v. N. D. (Pete) Hayward, Sheriff Of Salt Lake County; Roger F. Taylor, Deputy Sheriff, Salt Lake County; Michael M. Davis, Deputy Sheriff, Salt Lake County; Michael Stewart; Bart Barker; Tom Shimizu, Board Of Commissioners, Salt Lake County : Brief of Appellant**

NATURE OF THE ACTION AND HOW IT AROSE

This is a claim for the wrongful death of Michael Lance Christenson, the plaintiff's decedent, which resulted from the defendants' failure to arrest Christenson and thereby prevent him from riding his motorcycle while he was drunk. As a result of the defendants' failure to act, Christenson was fatally injured.

DISPOSITION OF CASE IN THE LOWER COURT

Plaintiff filed a complaint in the Third Judicial District Court of Salt Lake County on April 18, 1983. The defendants moved to dismiss plaintiff's complaint pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. The defendants' motion was granted by the Honorable Dean E. Conder.

TYPE OF RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff requests that the judgment of the lower court be reversed, and that the case be remanded for trial.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

On July 24, 1982, at approximately 1:30 a.m., sheriff's deputies, Roger F. Taylor and Michael M. Davis, responded to a call from the manager of the Billiards Palace, located at the corner of 900 East and 3900 South, Salt Lake City, Utah. the purpose of the call was to assist and restrain Michael Christenson, plaintiff's decedent, who was extremely drunk and who had been causing a disturbance. The sheriff's deputies confronted Michael Christenson in the parking lot of the Billiards Palace, conversed with him and observed his behavior and, ultimately, told him to walk his motorcycle away from that location. The motorcycle was a Honda CD-750, weighing approximately 530 pounds. Both deputies knew that Michael Christenson was so drunk that he was unable to

drive his motorcycle without creating a danger to himself and others. Despite Christenson's obvious and apparent state of intoxication, both deputies failed to arrest him; neither did they take any steps to impound the vehicle. Michael Christenson lived approximately two and one-half miles from the Billiards Palace. The bike weighed over 500 pounds, and it would take a healthy and sober man between two and three hours to push the bike that distance. Several moments after talking with the sheriff's deputies, Michael Christenson was driving his motorcycle and failed to negotiate a curve at approximately 400 East and 4800 South, Salt Lake County, Utah, a distance of approximately 2.3 miles from the Billiards Palace. As a result of the accident, Christenson was transported to Cottonwood Hospital, where he died on July 31, 1982.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

POLICE OFFICERS HAVE A DUTY TO EXERCISE THE CARE AND CAUTION OF ORDINARY, REASONABLE AND PRUDENT PERSONS.

The defendants' memorandum asks if "(it can) be logically maintained that officers who permitted the decedent to "walk" or push his motorcycle could reasonably believe that in so doing he would 'injure another person' ... or himself?" (Defendants' Memorandum, p. 4). Certainly, it is reasonable to



assume that a drunk would drive, and not walk, his motorcycle, especially when he is required to walk the motorcycle over a distance of two and one-half miles. If it were reasonable to assume that drunks would not drive, this State would not have found it necessary to enact recent extensive and strict legislation on driving while intoxicated (Utah Code Annotated §§41-6-43, §§41-6-44). Also, this country would be spared numerous traffic deaths yearly resulting from the actions of drunk drivers. Police officers, if anyone, should be aware of the erratic and unreasonable behavior of drunks. Officers should be aware that a drunk is quite likely to dive when he should stay from behind the wheel, or off his motorcycle.

In failing to arrest the plaintiff's decedent, the sheriff's deputies violated a duty imposed upon them by the statutes of this State:

General duties. The sheriff shall:

- 1) Preserve the peace.
- 2) Make all lawful arrests.

Utah Code Annotated, 17-22-2(1)(2). (1953).

The sheriff's deputies' intentional failure to arrest the decedent when they were aware of both his drunken state and of the probable likelihood that he would ride, rather than walk, his motorcycle, was a negligent act.

In the past, courts have held that statutory duties such as those imposed by §17-22-2, Utah Code Annotated, are owed to the general public and not to particular individuals. The courts have therefore denied individual claims based upon law officers' failure to perform their statutory duty, unless a special relationship exists between the officer and the plaintiff, giving rise to a specific duty owing to the plaintiff. This is not the trend of the law. The trend in the law is that public employees should be held liable for their tortious acts to the same extent as private persons.

The State of Arizona has recently rejected the distinction between a general duty to the public and a specific duty to an individual plaintiff in Ryan v. State, 656 P.2d 97 (Ariz. 1982):

"We shall no longer engage in the speculative exercise of determining whether the tort-feasor has a general duty to the injured party, which spells no recovery, or if he had a specific individual duty which means recovery. (Citation). Thus, the parameters of duty owed by the State will ordinarily be co-extensive with those owed by others."

Ryan at 599.

Alaska has also abandoned the general duty/specific duty distinction in Adams v. State, 555 P.2d 235 (Alaska 1976).

"(W)e consider that the 'duty to all, duty to no-one' doctrine is in reality a form of sovereign immunity,

which is a matter dealt with by statute in Alaska, and not to be amplified by court-created doctrine. . . . Where there is no immunity, the state is to be treated like a private litigant. To allow the public duty doctrine to disturb this equality would create immunity where the legislature has not."

Adams at 241-42.

Finally, a Massachusetts court, in Irwin v. Town of Ware, Superior Court Department, Civil No. 17562, Hampshire County Superior Court, Northampton, Massachusetts, attached as Appendix A, found a town liable for injuries caused by a drunk driver. The court ruled "as a matter of law ... users of the highway are a discreet class of people to whom the police may owe a duty." Irwin, p. 6. In essence, the court's holding abolishes the general duty to the public/special duty to the individual, at least in respect to an officer's duty to enforce drunk driving laws.

Utah law has never decided this point specifically. To say that an officer is responsible only to the general public is merely another way of saying that a person injured by a deputy sheriff's negligence has no remedy against him. Thus, a deputy is under a general duty to the public to preserve the peace and make all lawful arrests, yet there is no particular individual who can enforce that duty. Individuals injured by the negligent acts of another should receive compensation for those injuries,

regardless of whether or not the tort-feasor is a public employee.

This case should still go to trial even if the court determines that the plaintiff must show that the deputies owed a special duty to Michael Chrisenson before recovery will be allowed. The complaint and the summary judgment memorandum allege facts sufficient to support the finding of such a special duty.

The defendants' memorandum, Point One, relies upon the case of Shore v. Town of Stonington, 444 A.2d 1379 (Conn. 1982), where a showing of a clear and unequivocal duty to a particular individual was required for a cause in action in negligence to be shown. In Shore, the Connecticut Supreme Court found that although a drunk driver had been stopped, but not arrested, by a town police officer, the plaintiff had no cause in action for negligence against the officer and the town for failure to enforce motor vehicle laws governing driving while under the influence. The court noted three exceptions to its ruling. The first exception is as follows:

"We have recognized the existence of such a duty in situations where it would be apparent to the public officer that his failure to act would be likely to subject an identifiable person to imminent harm."

Shore at 1382.

In Shore, the plaintiff's decedent was a third party who was unknown to the officer when he stopped the drunk driver. After the officer released the driver, he (the driver) struck and killed plaintiff's decedent. In the present case, the deputies had immediate contact with plaintiff's decedent. They could have reasonably foreseen that if not restrained or arrested, he would probably ride his motorcycle and be subject to imminent harm.

In Tompkins v. Kenner Police Department, 402 S.2d 276 (La. 1981), the Court of Appeals of Louisiana proposed the following rule to determine if an officer had a duty to a particular individual:

" . . . (I)n enforcement of a governmental regulation which, through closeness in proximity or time, results in a one-to-one relationship between the police officer and the injured party, the police officer ceases to act only for the public good and at that moment becomes obligated to the individual to conduct himself in such a way as not to cause him unnecessary injury."

Tompkins at 280.

In Tompkins, a police officer failed to discover the plaintiff's decedent while investigating an automobile accident, even though the officer had been informed that the decedent was still alive three hours later, but, because of the lapse of time, he died later of loss of blood. The court found that the officer was negligently liable for the decedent's death.

In Tompkins, the officer never saw the decedent, but was still held liable for his death. In the present case, the plaintiff decedent, Michael Christenson, was in much closer proximity to the deputies. The deputies both saw and talked with Christenson. They were aware of his drunken state and the possibility that he might come to harm if they did not arrest him. Certainly, if the officer in Tompkins owed a duty to the plaintiff decedent, the deputies Taylor and Davis owed a duty to Michael Christenson. The deputies failed to measure up to that duty.

It might be argued that deputies Taylor and Davis had no affirmative duty to intervene and remedy a situation involving an obviously intoxicated and unruly Christenson. However, the deputies understood this duty when they momentarily detained Christenson and ascertained that he was drunk and likely to harm himself or another. Justice Cardozo stated this principle in Mach Co. v. Rensselaer Water Co., 247 N.Y. 160, 159 N.E. 892 (1928).

"What we need to know is the conduct that engenders the relation. It is here that the formula, however incomplete, has its value and significance. If conduct has gone forward to such a stage that inaction would commonly result, not negatively merely in withholding a benefit, but positively or actively in working an injury, there exists a relation out of which arises a duty to go forward." (Citation).

Mach at 898.

Nor is it sufficient that the deputies left Christenson in a condition no worse than when they found him. The deputies, having assumed a duty towards Christenson, were required to take protective action against any reasonably foreseeable injury to the decedent.

"The case law is clear that even when no original duty is owed to the plaintiff to undertake affirmative action, once it is voluntarily undertaken, it must be performed with due care.

. . . (T)his duty cannot be fulfilled by placing the helpless person in position of peril equal to that from which he was rescued."

Parvi v. City of Kingston, 41 N.Y.2d, 553, 559, 362 N.E.2d 960, 964-65; 3294 N.Y.S.2d 161, 165, (1977).

Deputies Taylor and Davis had intervened when Christenson was drunk on the night of July 24, 1982, and could have exercised immediate physical control over him. Such was their statutory duty; instead, the deputies relinquished control over the decedent after instructing him to "walk" his motorcycle home. As a consequence, Michael Christenson was killed in a single vehicle accident. Of course, Christenson might have died in the same accident even if the officers had not intervened; this, however, is beside the point. As noted in Parvi, once the deputies intervened, it became their obligation to improve the decedent's position and not to let happen what may happen, when they failed to detain Michael Christenson. Certainly, under the above

authority, it is not possible to say that Deputies Taylor and Davis did not owe a clear duty to the plaintiff's decedent.

Utah law has tended to impose liability on individual public employees for misfeasance and malfeasance. In Benally v. L. G. Robinson, 14 Utah 2d 6, 376 P.2d 388 (1962), a drunk escaped the custody of an arresting officer while being booked. The drunk fell down the stairs, hitting his head on a cement floor. He died three days later from head injuries. The defendant officer argued that he was liable to the plaintiff only if he was guilty of "wrongful" conduct, and not merely guilty of negligence. The Utah Supreme Court found that officers' duty extended beyond avoiding "wrongful" conduct:

"It is also argued that it was the deceased's fault in getting himself into what witnesses classified as a 'very drunken condition', thus initiating the chain of events which culminated in his tragic death, and that the defendant was not bound to protect him from his own folly. This assertion is not entirely without plausibility. Ordinarily one has no duty to look after the safety of another who has become voluntarily intoxicated and thus limited his ability to protect himself. But that absence of duty ended when Officer Robinson took Benally into custody. It then became his obligation to measure up to the standard of conduct which the law almost universally imposes: that of using the degree of care and caution which an ordinarily reasonable and prudent person would use under the circumstances. The deceased was entitled to have that degree of care observed in his behalf, even though he was drunk. As is sometimes said 'a drunk man is as much entitled to a safe sidewalk as a sober one, and is a great deal more in need of it.'"

Benally at 390.



In Benally, the plaintiff's decedent was under the defendant officer's care and control. In the present case, Michael Christenson was under the defendant deputies' care and control. They could foresee that Christenson would attempt to ride his motorcycle and sustain serious injuries. The deputies' duty extended beyond refraining from unlawful acts of excessive violence. The deputies had a duty as reasonable and prudent persons to take steps to avoid decedent's death. The Benally court ruled: "Accordingly, it was error for the court . . . to refuse to instruct upon (the officer's) duty to exercise reasonable care for (the deceased's) safety." Benally at 390.

Whether Deputies Taylor and Davis "undertook" to assist and restrain the plaintiff's decedent is a question for the jury. If the deputies did undertake to assist the decedent, their actions gave rise to a duty towards him. Whether the deputies failed in that duty is a question for the jury. The foreseeability of the decedent's injuries is also a question for the jury.

If the existence of the deputies' duty is a matter of law, that law is not yet decided in Utah. Since 1963, Arizona has held both officers and their employees liable for the officer's negligent acts. Stone v. Arizona Highway Comm., 93 Ariz. 384, P.2d 107 (1963):

"(T)he substantive defense of governmental immunity is now abolished not only for the instant case, but for all other pending cases, those not yet filed which are not barred by the Statute of Limitations and all future causes of action. All previous decisions to the contrary are overruled.

There is perhaps no doctrine more firmly established that the principal that liability follows tortious wrongdoing; that where negligence is the proximate cause of injury, the rule is liability and immunity is the exception . . ."

Stone at 112.

POINT II

PLAINTIFF'S DECEDENT COULD NOT, AS A MATTER OF LAW, HAVE "ASSUMED THE RISK."

In Utah, the law on assumption of risk contains two elements. There must be knowledge of a danger and a free and voluntary consent to assume it. *Meese v. Brigham Young University, Ut.*, 639 P.2d 720.

"This court has ruled that the essential elements of assumption of risk are (1) knowledge of a danger, and (2) a free and voluntary consent to assume it. It must be actual knowledge and it is not sufficient to say that in the exercise of ordinary care one would know that danger exists."

Meese at 724.

Of course, the plaintiff's decedent should have known about the danger inherent in riding his motorcycle while drunk, but how could the decedent have given free and voluntary consent

to assume the risk while he was intoxicated? The decedent's judgment was severely impaired by his drunkenness, while the deputies were sober and possessed unimpaired judgment. Whether the officers were able to appreciate the risk of injury more clearly than the decedent is a question for the jury:

"We thus hold that under our comparative negligence statute "Assumption of risk" language is not appropriate to describe the various concepts previously dealt with under that terminology but is to be treated, in its secondary sense, as contributory negligence. Specifically, and with particular reference to our comparative negligence act, the reasonableness of plaintiff's conduct in confronting a known or unknown risk created by defendant's negligence will basically be determined under principles of contributory negligence. Attention should be focused on whether a reasonably prudent man, in the exercise of due care, would have incurred the risk, despite his knowledge of it and, if so, whether he would have conducted himself in the manner in which the plaintiff acted in light of all the surrounding circumstances, including the appreciated risk . . . Then, if plaintiff's unreasonableness is viewed to be less than that of defendant, according to the terms of the statute, "Any damages allowed shall be diminished in proportion to the amount of negligence attributable to the person recovering." Jacobsen Construction Co., Inc. et al, v. Structo-Lite Engineering, Inc., 619 P.2d 306 (Utah 1980).

It might be argued that the decedent's voluntary drunkenness is an intervening act, relieving the defendants of liability; however, a reasonably foreseeable intervening act would not

supersede the defendants' original negligence, nor must the defendants' negligence be the sole cause of the decedent's death. The Court of Appeals of New York has said that a drunken plaintiff's actions are foreseeable and should not excuse a defendant's negligence. Parvi v. City of Kingston, 41 N.Y.2d 553, 362 N.E.2d 960, 394 N.Y.S.2d 161 (1977):

"Finally, a word of clarification may be in order as to the legal role of plaintiff's voluntary intoxication. To accept the defendant's argument, that the intoxication was itself the proximate cause of Parvi's injury as a matter of law, would be to negate the very duty imposed on the police officers when they took Parvi and Dugan into custody. It would be to march up the hill only to march down again. The clear duty imposed on the officers interdicts such a result if, as the jury may find, their conduct was unreasonable. (Citations). For it is the very fact of plaintiff's drunkenness which precipitated duty once the officers made the decision to act."

In the present case, the decedent's drunkenness precipitated the deputies' decision to act. The decedent's drunkenness was observed by the deputies. Their experience should have told them that the decedent was likely to ride instead of "walk" his motorcycle, as they directed him to do. Whether the deputies could have reasonably foreseen that the decedent might be injured or killed if he did ride his motorcycle is a question of fact. If the deputies were unaware of the decedent's drunkenness, or if he became drunk after the deputies encountered him, then the

decedent's actions might be an intervening cause sufficient, as a matter of law, to relieve the deputies of liability. But this is not the case; here, the deputies, aware of the decedent's intoxicated state, took the risk that the decedent would obey their command. If the deputies were negligent in taking the risk, then the jury should decide if the consequences of that negligence were foreseeable.

CONCLUSION

The existence of the deputies' duty is a question of law which has not been decided in Utah. The present trend in other jurisdictions is to find that such a duty exists. The plaintiff has alleged sufficient facts to show the existence of this duty, even if the court finds that there must be a special relationship between the deputies and the decedent. The foreseeability of the decedent's death, the reasonableness of the deputies' conduct and their ability to appreciate the risk, as compared to the decedent's ability, are questions of fact for the jury. The granting of summary judgment for the defendants should be reversed and the case remanded for trial.