1984

A. B. Christenson. Personal Representative of the Estate of Michael Lance Christenson, Deceased v. N. D. (Pete) Hayward, Sheriff Of Salt Lake County; Roger F. Taylor, Deputy Sheriff, Salt Lake County; Michael M. Davis, Deputy Sheriff, Salt Lake County; Michael Stewart; Bart Barker; Tom Shimizu, Board Of Commissioners, Salt Lake County : Brief of Respondent

Nature of the Case

Plaintiff sues the defendants Sheriff, Deputy Sheriff
and County Commissioners of Salt Lake County alleging damages
for the death of plaintiff's son, when the motorcycle the intox-
icated decedent was operating, failed to negotiate a curve in
the road.

Disposition In Lower Court

The Honorable Dean E. Conder, Third Judicial District Court, granted defendants Motion to dismiss under 12(b)(6) U.R.C.P.,.

Facts

Inasmuch as the Lower Court granted defendants' Motion to dismiss on the grounds that the Complaint fails to state a cause of action (R-14) the only facts for review are those stated in the complaint.

The appellants' interjection of additional facts (the make and weight of the motorcycle, the distance to decedent's home, etc.) are not properly included in appellant's Brief. However, we will engage in the same impropriety by replying that defendants' proof would establish that decedent indicated he would push his motorcycle to a friend's home a short distance away.

The above alleged additional facts are not material to the dispositions of this appeal.

The Complaint establishes that the officers never saw decedent while he was operating his motorcycle (background facts, R-4). Their first contact with him was in the parking lot relative to a disturbance.

The decedent was not taken into custody by the officers. "Despite Christenson's . . . intoxication, both deputies failed to arrest him" (Par 18, R-4). The deputies "told" decedent to walk his motorcycle away from that location" (Par 16, R-4).

The decedent, while driving his motorcycle failed to negotiate a curve and later died from the injuries he sustained.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

The Defendants Owed No Duty To Decedent To Protect Him From His Own Negligence.

Not one case cited by appellant involves the facts here. All of the cases in point involve subsequent accidents resulting in injuries or death of third parties, caused by the drunk driver, after the officers had observed him driving while intoxicated, and failed to arrest him.

Inasmuch as no member of the general public was injured by decedent's act in driving a motorcycle while intoxicated, the appellant's entire Brief is based on an argument of facts in a different case, which the Honorable Court need not here decide.

For Example: Ryan v. State 656 P.2d 616 (Arz 1982) (Appellant's Brief, Pg. 5) is obviously not in point. There a dangerous inmate escaped from a youth center and later shot plaintiff. The trial court granted Summary Judgment based on Governmental Immunity, and the Arizona Supreme Court reversed.

Adams v. State 555 P.2d 235 (Alaska, 1976) (Appellant's Brief Pg. 5.), involves the duty of the state in conducting fire safety inspections and is not germane to the issues here.

Shore v. Town of Stonington 444 A 2.d 1379 [Conn. 1982 (Pg. 7)] officers failed to arrest a drunk driver whom they had previously stopped, but failed to arrest, was later involved in an accident resulting in serious injuries and death of third parties. The officers had warned the drunk to drive carefully, and the accident occurred 10 minutes later.

Tomkins v. Kenner Police Dept. 402 So. 2.d 276 (La 1981), Appellant's Brief Page 8 does not involve a failure to arrest a drunk. Rather the officers, during an investigation of an accident, negligently failed to discover a seriously injured party in the accident, and he died as a result.

Mach Co. v. Rensselaer Water Co. 247 N.Y. 160, 159 N.E. 896 (1928) (Pg. 9, Appellant's Brief), simply holds that a contract by a water works company to furnish water to a city, does not give an individual resident of the city a cause of action against the water company when the resident's house burns and the hydrant pressure was not sufficient to extinguish the fire.

Stone v. Arizona Highway Commission. 381 P.2.d 107 (Ariz. 1963) (Pg. 12 Appellant's Brief), involves the incorrect highway markings on a state highway which confused the driver resulting in an accident. The Court abolished the defense of Governmental Immunity. The case, therefore, is clearly not in point.

The Respondent's Position is clearly announced by this Honorable Court in Benally v. L. G. Robinson 14 Utah .2d 6, 376 P.2d 388, 1964 (Appellant's Brief Pg. 11). "Ordinarily

one has no duty to look after the safety of another who has become voluntarily intoxicated and thus limited his ability to protect himself. But that absence of duty ended when Officer Robinson took Benally into custody".

In the case at Bar the officers did not take the decedent into custody. The appellant complains that the officers did not arrest him.

In Parvi v. City of Kingston (N.Y.) 362 N.E.2d 960 (1977) (Pg. 15 Appellant's Brief) the officers responded to a call of a disturbance, and upon arrival found three intoxicated men. The police told them to leave but were advised they had no place to go. The officers then transported them to a park where they could "sleep it off". Two of the men wandered on to a near-by freeway and were struck by cars.

The Majority Court held that when the men were placed in the police car, they were then in custody. The court held that Summary Judgment was not proper as it would "negate the very duty imposed on police officers when they took Parvi . . . into custody." (emphasis added).

The better reasoned dissenting opinion denied the findings of custody, under the facts, and then states Page 966:

"Plaintiff's negligence claim is equally without merit. The police officers had no duty to leave Parvi absolutely free from danger in any form. Instead, they owed plaintiff only a duty to exercise ordinary care. If Perchance, he was in search of more drinks, there was no chance of giving him absolute safety except by locking him up. It should not be the rule, common to an era long well past, that every drunkard must be locked up on being observed as intoxicated in public."

"The police . . . are not sisters of charity or baby sitters."

In Stout v. City of Porterville 196 Cal. Rept'r 301 (1983) where officers questioned a pedestrian who was intoxicated, but did not arrest him, and the pedestrian was later struck by a car, the pedestrian's complaint against the officers and the city was dismissed.

The Appellate Court affirmed, and states, Page 304:

"The only additional duty undertaken by accepting employment as a police officer is the duty owed to the public at large."

The Stout Court points out that "As a rule, one has no duty to come to the aid of another."

The Court there cited considerable precedent pointing out that until a "special relationship" is established by an affirmative act by the officer "which places the person in peril or increases the risk of harm" there arises no duty on the officer to protect an individual.

The Court then concludes:

"Appellants did not allege that Officer Semonious assured Michael Stout he would take care of him or by his words or conduct induced him to rely on the officer's protection. Appellants did not allege that the officer in any way induced him into a false sense of security. In sum, appellants failed to allege a common law legal duty owed to them by City and/or Officer Semonious."

In the case at bar, there is no allegation that the defendant officers took any affirmative action to place decedent under their custody, or that they in any way took any action which would have led decedent into a feeling of

security, or that any action on their part increased the possibility of harm to decedent.

Quite to the contrary, had decedent complied with his agreement to "walk" the motorcycle and not ride it, no accident would have occurred.

We, refer also to precedents cited in Defendant's Memorandum Pg. R-17-19.

POINT II.

The Decedent's Negligence, as a Matter of Law Under Comparative Negligence, Was Equal to or Exceeded Any Possible Negligence on the Part of These Defendants.

It is inconceivable that intoxication while driving a motor vehicle can be advanced as an excuse for negligence, as proposed by appellant.

It is even more ludicrous to submit that decedent who was grossly intoxicated while driving a motorcycle without the permission or knowledge of the defendant officers was less negligent than the officers.

Reasonable minds cannot differ but that under the facts alleged here, the decedent's negligence was certainly the sole cause of the accident and his death.

But assuming arguendo that there was some passive negligence on the part of the officers, the decedent's negligence as a matter of law far outweighed any such negligence on the part of the officers.

Am Jur. 2.d, New Topic Service, Comparative Negligence at page 65.

". . . the comparative negligence statute did not attempt to take from the court the right, where no other inference could be drawn from the evidence by reasonable men, to decide as a question of law that negligence on the part of the plaintiff equaled or exceeded that of the defendant."

65A C.J.S., Negligence, §262, page 905:

"Where the facts are undisputed and conclusively establish that the degrees of negligence were equal or that plaintiff's negligence exceeded that of defendant, . . . the question of defendant's liability should not be submitted to the jury."

CONCLUSION

It would be insurmountable and impossible task to require police officer to protect all inebriates from the possibility of injuring them selves which is the contention of appellant.

No duty to do so exists, and none existed under the facts alleged in the complaint here.

And when a highly intoxicated person drives a motor vehicle, contrary to law and reason, he can blame himself for the obviously foreseeable consequences.

The Order of Dismissal should therefore be affirmed.